#### XX Convegno Nazionale di Economia del Lavoro

Facoltà di Economia - Università di Roma "La Sapienza"

Roma, 22 e 23 Settembre 2005

# DESIRED MOBILITY OR SATISFIED IMMOBILITY? MIGRATORY ASPIRATIONS AMONG KNOWLEDGE WORKERS

Case study: IT (Information Technology) global outsourcing in Romania.

Anna Ferro Urbeur, Dottorato Europeo Studi Urbani e Locali Department of Sociology and Social Research University of Milano-Bicocca Via Bicocca degli Arcimboldi 2 20129 Milano,Italy anna.ferro@unimib.it

#### PLEASE, DO NOT QUOTE WITHOUT AUTHOR'S PERMISSION

*Abstract:* Among the aspects discussed within the globalisation process, the *international mobility of professional workers* assumes considerable relevance. This paper focuses on migratory aspirations among knowledge workers within the context of economic globalisation and market restructuring in Romania. Due to a lack of literature dealing with these issues, the originality of this study consists in its attention to the stage immediately preceding migration – how highly skilled potential migrants plan their migration as well as frame their personal and professional aspirations in their country of origin. The background of this research is then represented by the international outsourcing *strategies of firms* (the flow of capital and companies) to foreign countries and by the new employment opportunities offered by *Information Technologies*.

In general, personal aspirations could be explained either in the form of committed plans for mobility or immobility or a desire to remain immobile. What influences aspirations to migrate is a mixture of pressures from the social environment, market and immigration conditions and personal traits and attitudes. The global outsourcing slightly influences brain drain outcomes, but it introduces brain circulation, virtual brain mobility and the emergence of a *Net bourgeoisie* as features of globally relocated knowledge work.

#### TABLE OF CONTENTS

1. Introduction
1.1 The migratory aspirations of highly skilled workers
1.2 Influence of global outsourcing on international mobility
2 Sociological hypothesis and questions
3. The migrant's behaviour in reviewed literature
3.1 Developing migratory projects
3.2 Micro sociological approaches to migration
3.3 Aspiration and ability to migrate
3.4 Psycho-social approaches
4. Fieldwork: strategies of firms, stories of workers
4.1 Methodology
5. Workers' aspirations and projects
5.1 Framing migratory projects
5.2 Committed aspiration to mobility
5.3 Disheartened aspiration and aborted mobility
5.4 Unexpected and desired aspiration
5.5 Satisfied Immobility
5.6 Outsourcing: a migratory launching pad or a Net-bourgeoisie incubator
6. Conclusions

"My wish is to migrate, have an experience abroad to improve my skills and then return to Romania", "I have no option...I'm forced to leave. Where? Canada or Australia, they are recruiting IT people", "Actually, I'm pleased to be working here in Romania and just be virtually mobile".

These short sentences portray the potential immigrant status and condition related to highly skilled mobility today. To what extent do IT knowledge workers want, desire and expect (or not) to migrate and what are the circumstances that enable them to do so? These are the aspects we intend to investigate with this study.

# 1. Introduction

# 1.1 The migratory aspirations of highly skilled workers

International mobility of the highly skilled - which refers to the opportunities of qualified workers to capitalize on their skills by moving to other employers and countries - represents an increasingly large and complex component of global migration streams, given that globalisation and the advent of a knowledge economy created a new context for labour mobility, expressing a greater need for qualified professionals. Even if reliable data on skilled mobility is generally scarce, the growing demand and competition for talents in OECD countries is significant - especially in the USA, Canada, Australia and the UK, and more than ever in the Information Technology (IT)<sup>1</sup> industry.

Without doubt, the phenomenon of *highly skilled migration* (or *skill streams*) can assume the features of *brain drain* - the massive flow of intellectual human capital directed to the most developed countries - facilitated by selective immigration polices (Lowell and Findlay 2001) and by knowledge-based metropolitan economies in search of qualified resources (Sassen 1994). This phenomenon, which is nothing new across the whole historical range of migrations<sup>2</sup>, is not even due to globalisation itself, while h*ighly skilled workers* and their mobility patterns certainly represent an essential part of the global labour market formation (Sassen 1991).

Skilled migration and brain drain have assuredly been affecting the seascape of many nations: their positive and negative consequences<sup>3</sup> in both origin and destination countries have entered social and political policy agendas and been debated in academic discussions (Lowell B. L. and Findlay A.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> "Information Technology" (IT) is shorthand for Information and Communications Technologies (ICTs).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> During the past, demand for highly-skilled workers largely increased, determining territorial movements of people. This phenomenon became numerically distinctive as well as politically and economically relevant during the *1950s and 1960s*. Debates amongst academics and international agencies started, highlighting the negative consequences of brain drain especially affecting southern developing countries (UNCTAD 1975, 1979; Bhagwati Jagdish 1976). A second brain drain phase started in the 1990s, when the current mobility of skills occurred within the context of globalisation and within the widespread diffusion of information and communications technologies (ICTs). This phase, in addition, coincides with the transition to market-oriented economies in most parts of the world, as in the case of the former Soviet bloc, and it reveals a shift in the skill composition of qualified migrants with a strong emphasis on IT and knowledge work. Moreover, brain drain today is not only and uniquely affecting developing countries, but it can also occur at different levels within the *developed* nations.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Initial studies on skilled migration in the 1960s concentrated more on the *labour market consequences* for the workers' country of origin, considering the demand for emigrants as exogenous (Beine *et.alt.* 2002). In addition, with education being largely financed by public resources, damage created in the sending countries was referred to as the imbalance between personal and public/social advantages (Bhagwati 1976). International mobility of skilled workers was given overall consideration within a contraposition of *winner* and *loser* countries (Beine *et.alt.* 2002). In the 1990s, the study of brain drain shifted its attention from the *pushing factors and negative aspects*, to the *pull* factors (demand driven flows, skill shortages, selective immigration polices). Recent literature (Gaillard and Gaillard 1997; Lowell and Findlay 2001; Beine *et alt.* 2001) started to consider skilled mobility as a *potential benefit* for the country of origin thanks to the remittances (Rapoport and Docquier 2003), trade networks (Gould, 1994; Rauch and Trindade 2002), return migrations bringing back new skills and experience (Domingues Dos Santos and Postel-Vinay 2003) and the fostering effect of *local human capital formation* in the country of origin (Mountford 1997; Stark *et al.* 1998; Beine et al. 2001).

2001; Wickramasekara P. 2002; OECD Sopemi 2001; OECD 2002a, 2002b; Unesco-Cepes 2004; CCE DG Research 2003). This phenomenon - even if numerically limited - represents an important intersection of contemporary international migration flows, labour markets and economies.

Unlike traditional migration studies, this article investigates a particular feature of skilled mobility not widely analysed. In most cases in fact, economic and sociological literature - both at the micro and macro level – has more readily focused either on the effects of migration flows on destination countries (i.e. social, economic or legal aspects related to migration and integration), on the effects on countries of origin (i.e. the brain drain, social remittances) or on the overall determinants of immigration. Rather than following a traditional approach, this study looks at *that stage immediately preceding* migration among highly skilled workers. The focus is therefore on the "*potential migrants*", with an attempt to explain how they develop their migratory project (how individuals articulate their motivations, how they decide between aspirations for a career abroad and a life in their own country, and how external conditions and personal decisions could make workers opt for a livelihood abroad).

It is important to underline that we are particularly referring to those qualified workers who actually know that their abilities are needed and requested abroad (due to the skill shortages, the internationalization of professions and the relevance of information technologies). At the same time they are also able to get rewards from their abilities without moving internationally. This aspect represents the specific trait of our discourse on skilled migration: explore the option between mobility (demand driven movements to foreign labour markets and economies, opportunities to work abroad, desires to emigrate) and the immobility alternative (online virtual migration and employment in outsourced jobs)<sup>4</sup>.

What we are analysing here may indeed seem marginal or secondary to other migration issues that are more obvious and have more to do with substantial social and economic implications. Nevertheless, we argue that we are making an original and worthwhile contribution to the understanding of migratory phenomena by going through the reasons, desires, individual education and career paths of highly skilled workers. In this regard, we consider the mobility process not just by examining statistical facts and physical flows, but mostly by looking at personal motivations, aspirations and perceptions.

# 1.2 Global outsourcing influencing international mobility

In the following section, we shall specify the scope of this study, explaining how and why the knowledge economy represented the background of our research.

Globalisation and the advent of the knowledge economy created a new context where not only workers, but also companies are mobile in the global market as a result of their international restructuring and global outsourcing strategies<sup>5</sup>. *Flows of capital* and *firms* - through foreign direct investments and global subcontracting practices – have rapidly increased in recent times, linking

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Not all qualified and skilled workers could have access to skilled labour markets abroad indeed. As recent trends showed, today international migrants are more likely to include qualified and skilled workers who enter low skilled segments of foreign labour markets. Differently, in the case here considered, IT Romanian workers can relate to the IT labour market in their own country and also abroad.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Outsourcing is generally defined as the "practice of handing over the planning, management and operation of certain functions to an independent third party, under the terms of a formalized service level agreement. It is usually, but not always, characterized by the transfer of assets from the customer to the service provider. Increasingly, organisations are both outsourcing customers and service providers. The major IT companies focus on their core competencies too and find it profitable to outsource other functions such as staff recruitment or payroll processing" (Sparrow 2003: 1-2). We consider outsourcing to be a method of economic relations between two firms/actors where one uses and integrates into its process the goods, services and resources of the other.

peripheral places and workers to advanced western economies within the international division of labour<sup>6</sup>. In fact, recent literature has underlined patterns of a skill-intensive international division of labour (Fernandes, Ararora and Asundi 2000) that produced geographic industrial clusters assembling and supplying large professional labour force pools and quality technologies at competitive lower wage rates<sup>7</sup>. An internationally known example is India, where a large software and services industry of foreign firms has been developed (Kattuman and Iyer 2002).

Different outsourcing arrangements emerged as a response to structural changes (Clott 2004), with firms cutting costs and improving their efficiency<sup>8</sup>. In this sense, we can say that *Information Technologies* somehow facilitated *globalisation* as their nature helped companies to create international partnerships and relocations (Hicks, Isard and Martin 1996). Moreover, *ICT (Information and Communication Technology)* has very different traits from other industries: the main difference is that it refers to *knowledge workers* and *knowledge products*, instead of low-skilled profiles and material goods. In fact, the IT sector deals with the *new technologies* as an instrument of work and as the product itself, without needing physical transport, taxes or delivery costs. The specificity and potential of Information Technologies therefore allow the virtual employment of so called "*brains without a body*", skilled workers employed from afar.

From this perspective, globalisation provided an open field for companies' international industrial restructuring as well as a further expression of demand for skilled human resources<sup>9</sup>. This phenomenon is also being debated today with regard to its short and long-term impacts on restraining or enhancing out-migration and its potential for increasing local employment, wages and economic growth, and so constitutes the background for our research.

#### 2. Sociological hypothesis and questions

In this section, we will introduce the main hypothesis of our study that made us examine the international mobility of highly skilled workers with respect to the global outsourcing strategy.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> From a *theoretical* point of view, we recall the tradition of the transaction costs approach where subcontracting represents the choice that companies make to achieve maximum economic efficiency (Williamson 1981). Subcontracting could be regarded as a particular *recruitment strategy* since the choice between vertical integration and the contracting out of some activities has an immediate association with decisions on recruiting human resources. When effects on the labour force are expressed, they usually examine managerial models and practices that involve *core* and *marginal* labour force or analyse non-standard forms of employment. Little or no systematic analysis of subcontracting as an option for workers' recruitment and mobility has been developed (Ferro, Fellini and Fullin 2005).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> A switch from moving *people to work* to moving *work to people* started to occur more frequently, thanks to the nature - and potential - of Information Technologies and to the process of economic globalisation of markets.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> During the 1980s, many companies with a strong vertical and hierarchical organisation reshaped into more flexible structures as a consequence of general trends of downsizing, restructuring, re-engineering and just in time manufacturing (Sparrow 2003). Other factors that influenced the trend towards outsourcing include the problems of skill shortage that the IT sector has been experiencing: outsourcing has been addressed as a solution for firms that have trouble finding the necessary skills and recruit workers in their local pools (Nicholson 2001). Other factors are the presence of a more mobile workforce, the increasing costs of software developed in-house, the need to adopt new technologies to speed up system development, the explosion of Internet technologies and services that require a wide range of new skills and investments (Sparrow 2003: 2-3).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Information Technologies triggered intense transformations in production and work and in the increasing needs of knowledge workers, creating complex interconnections between labour migrations and companies' recruitment strategies. The *ICT sector* perfectly represents the contemporary global changes in the market economy and, due to its product and organisation nature, provides significant examples of highly skilled workers' mobility. In fact, Castells (1996: 81-82), commenting on the relationship between knowledge, the economy and the globalisation process, confirms that companies look for profitability and competitiveness by cutting production and labour costs through organisational decentralisation and expanding markets. Information Technologies provide the tools to implement new capital investments abroad and employ a qualified workforce (Castells 1996: 85-90).

In accordance with labour migration studies and world system theories (Sassen 1988; Massey *et al.* 1998), we tested a possible relationship between the *relocation of international firms* and *migrations of highly-skilled workers*. Our aim was to verify a situation perceived as paradoxical. To begin with, we can in fact argue that global relocation keeps the *employed workforce immobile*, creating a mobility of capital, goods and services, but not of individuals. Economists argue that creating the conditions to attract direct foreign investments bring growth and jobs locally; foreign investments, initially attracted by lower wages, create jobs and economic improvement. The growing practice of outsourcing might therefore represent a solution to keep skilled IT workers in Romania and provide jobs and good wages over time, thereby reducing emigration pressures (Martin and Staubhaar 2002).

According to *world system literature* on the other hand (Sassen 1991), foreign capital in developing countries is assumed to affect migration, the argument being that international outflows of labour follow the influx of capital, but in the other direction, creating a mobile population from peripheral countries. This perspective stems especially from the coexistence - particularly in global cities - of dual labour markets of immigrant workforces (unskilled and highly skilled) crossing global boundaries.

Moreover, theoretical considerations suggest that emigration happens more easily and frequently among those individuals who whish to secure and improve their own and their families' economic conditions (Massey *et al.* 1998). In addition, aspects of professional development and improvement to quality of life are more frequently mentioned by highly qualified persons, making young people more likely to consider planning a migration.

Starting from these assumptions, we argued that, *paradoxically*, the global relocation of IT could either represent a factor of *mobility activation* and selective migration for qualified workers or a status of *workforce immobility*. In this paper, we discuss to what extent the aspirations and perspectives on international migration amongst IT knowledge workers are shaped, influenced and expressed within the global outsourcing. In doing so, we can definitively combine the individual motivations and aspirations of workers with the pushing and/or pulling effect of global outsourcing.

More specifically, the main aspects we intend to analyse throughout this paper concern:

(§) What drives and shapes *the aspiration* - or, alternatively, the non-aspiration - *of knowledge workers to migrate to another country? What personal and external factors influence the desire and decision to migrate?* 

(§) What patterns of mobility aspiration can we identify among knowledge workers? What traits and features emerge? What implications can we infer from this?

These aspects will be further examined in the following pages: *firstly*, we review those theoretical approaches that considered migration at the micro level mostly paying attention to migratory aspirations and motivations (§ 3).

*Secondly*, we explain how the fieldwork research was developed in Romania (and specifically in the city of Cluj Napoca), where there has been a pronounced brain drain trend among highly skilled IT workers in the past and a marked current international outsourcing trend. We then consider the qualitative methodological features of this study: personal narrations and in-depth interviews are in fact the tool that could provide answers to our questions pertaining to the sphere of personal and professional aspirations (§ 4).

*Thirdly*, we examine the fieldwork results based on our previous assumptions, concepts and questions (§ 5).

# 3. The migrant's behaviour in reviewed literature

Taking into account the determining factors of migration, much attention has traditionally been paid to social, economic and political aspects from a *macro*-sociological perspective.

An important contribution comes from economic theories on *migration pressure*<sup>10</sup>. In considering the distinction between *wanting* to migrate and actually *migrating*, Straubhaar (1993) defines migration pressure as "that part of migration potential not realised because of restrictions imposed by immigration countries". The migration potential depends on the sum of individuals' hypothetical economic and non-economic gains from migration and it varies with their propensity to translate these gains into a desire to migrate. Moreover, Schaeffer (1993) and Bruni and Venturini (1995) relate their analyses to demographic and labour market conditions in a macro level approach<sup>11</sup>. Their conception of actual migration is determined by the *demand* in destination countries: "migration *demand* [...] is the willingness of the potential destination countries to accept immigrants. Demand for foreign people and immigration laws decide whether and which part of migration potential becomes effective. [...] If no government wants to admit foreign workers there will be no (legal) international labour migration" (Straubhaar 1993: 13). This model therefore considers the desire and ability to migrate shaped by the labour demand abroad.

Conversely, different dimensions have been studied with *micro*-sociological analysis, focusing on the individual level. Our aim here is to review some micro-approaches that could be useful in order to examine the construction of individual migratory projects, explaining how immigrants express, wish, foresee and invest in their employment abroad. In fact, there are not only macro factors (push and pull) affecting people's decisions, but also *micro dimensions* where people evaluate and consider why and how to contextualise their migratory experience.

Migration in general is a process that starts in the *country of origin* before becoming effective. It originates as an *idea* that can then concretely develop or not (Edelstein 2000 a; 2000 b). How migration plans originate and what they consist of are elements related to the more or less *instrumental* consideration and *investment* that immigrants make in their job abroad (Massey *et al.* 1998; Reyneri 2000). This is particularly true when we consider the differences between skilled migrants - who migrate just to get a qualified occupation abroad - and workers who are employed in low-income jobs, despite their higher educational background and expectations.

# 3.1 Developing migratory projects

In this section, we begin by including a *cost and benefit analysis* of determining factors in migration and then review the micro-sociological approaches that deal with migrants (and premigrant) behaviour. This will aid us in understanding contemporary migrations at an individual level.

In developing their migratory project, *potential migrants* consider and evaluate various *conditions*: (a) the person's *dissatisfaction* with his/her present economic, family, political or social conditions compared with the expected situation in other countries, based on information from personal experiences (travels, study abroad) or from other sources (friends, the mass media, books); (b) the conviction that personal *improvements* and the fulfilment of aspirations are very unlikely to be accomplished in the country of origin; (c) the idea that desires concerning one's personal, social and economic situation could be *fulfilled* in another country. Through a process of *anticipatory* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Migration pressure theories are often considered an expression of political concern about inflows of immigrants, rather than as an analytical concept (Bruni and Venturini 1995).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> The strength of their argument consists in the *separation* of migration potential from observed migration flows. At the individual level, this means that the desire to migrate must precede the actual migration, and it is not certain that a person wishing to migrate will eventually succeed in migrating.

*socialisation*<sup>12</sup>, the potential migrant is supposed to have knowledge of lifestyles, values and information, (d) to know the practical possibilities for migration and the entry regulations and (e) to weigh up all the benefits against the costs of migration.

What the migrant actually considers in his/her evaluation and decision to migrate is in fact a combination of push and pull elements articulated at a personal, family, social and economic level<sup>13</sup>. The concept of *migratory project* goes beyond the mere rational and economic calculation and the sole intentions of the migrant. On the contrary, it includes the local context and dimensions explaining why people emigrate and with what perspectives.

The migratory project is influenced by the *expectations* that migrants have for their future/possible life abroad and by the deprivation they feel for not being able to fulfil their aspirations<sup>14</sup>. Moreover, migratory projects are shaped by a *migratory knowledge* comprising networks of relations, circulation of information, ethnic chains to organise, support and integration of migrants. Not all emigrants move through migratory chains obviously, but this is a key aspect of today's flows (Reyneri 1979; Portes 1998)

Furthermore, migratory projects have traditionally been considered in light of their *duration* - long/permanent and temporary. The length indeed influences the social-cultural and labour identity of migrants<sup>15</sup>: seasonal foreign workers, for example, face the working period abroad as a temporary experience and have no interest in local integration or assimilation. When migration plans are longer, the dynamics to keep up one's own culture and social relations can vary, if not even conflict, with the local integration and assimilation process<sup>16</sup>. However, the sole duration can not exclusively explain labour migration movements that have become more *complex* and *articulated* with modern and easier transport connections, international circulation of information and cultural and socio-demographic changes in the countries of origin.

In general, we can assume that migratory projects are differently formed before emigration takes place, but the boundaries between the intervening features are evidently very permeable: motivations and plans in fact change often over time, influenced by local conditions and by economic, social, cultural, personal and legal dimensions.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> The hypothesis of anticipatory socialisation actually stresses the influence that the acquaintance and familiarity with foreign lifestyles, culture, information and ideas can have on determining people's plans. This will be also explained in the following paragraph.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> It is important to remember that migration is a selective process in which migrants represent a very small portion of the whole population.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> While the neoclassical hypothesis of the determining factors of migration considers the micro level of migration decision-making, attributed to income differences among countries, the new economic sociology proposed the concept, based on social psychology (Merton and Kitt 1950) of relative deprivation affecting the decision to migrate. This concept refers to an individual's perception of living in worse conditions than the reference group. This comparison demonstrates that people's desire to improve their status and migrate is not influenced by income disparity, but by their personal position in the social stratification. This explains why the decision to migrate does not necessarily imply a condition of unemployment, as those who have a job can also realistically consider a move abroad (Zanfrini 2004).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> Rack's classification (1988) based on the reason and characteristic of migration considers immigrants variously according to their *project's duration* – short, medium or long – and relates this to the *personal investment* in the experience abroad (the *Gastarbeiter*, the *Settler* and the *refugees*).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> Considering the differences between migratory projects, Reyneri (2000) proposes to include the following dimensions in order to study the various behaviours of migrants:

a. The social and cultural level of integration and homogeneity in the countries of origin and the degree of exposure to the norms, lifestyles and aspirations of destination countries.

b. The characteristics of emigration, from the migratory projects to the legislative burdens.

c. The level of social organisation in the country of destination and its capacity to integrate and assimilate people from other cultures

In the country of destination, immigrant social organisations can develop in different ways according to the cohesion and extension of relationships related to the immigrant national community, family or local clan, or become isolated.

# 3.2 Micro sociological approaches to migration

Considering how micro-sociological literature has been studying the *migration project* and *decision-making process* on an individual level, we realised that most approaches were mainly centred on the adaptation and integration phase of immigrants in the host society<sup>17</sup>. Two micro-approaches, explaining why some individuals migrate and others do not, are particularly significant.

Firstly, the studies of *migration systems and networks* emphasise the role of family and informal networks in facilitating migration for some potential migrants but not for others (Boyd 1989; Böcker 1995). Applied to the *migration field*, the social network analysis concentrates on the structural relations among individuals along their migratory path. Migrants are connected to one or more social networks determined by family and friendship relationships and by territorial, ethnic, professional or religious association.<sup>18</sup>. This approach assigns a central role to the different kinds of *flows* (human resources, financial and technical) that exist between emigration and immigration countries. On the whole, we find references to the migratory project of single individuals, given that personal decisions are affected by each person's networks and that networks represent mechanisms that characterise and regulate outflow migration systems.

The second approach refers to the *new economics of labour migration*, showing that migration of some, but not all family members, can constitute an important risk-reducing strategy (Stark 1995; Taylor 1999). The motivation and decision to migrate is transferred from the single individual to the family, despite the fact that just one person effectively migrates (Stark and Bloom 1985; Stark 1991). In fact, families have their own strategies to allocate resources in different labour markets – local, national and international – in order to maximise profits and minimise risks. Emigration is not just a permanent separation, but more often a temporary move, and it therefore represents a new way of defining relationships with the community of origin (Zanfrini 2004).

New Economic Sociology pays attention to the push factors considering the *community* to whom the potential migrants relate and refer. Today, because of the diffusion of communication means in peripheral countries, the community of reference for potential migrants may not just be their physical one in the country of origin, but also the one residing in the country where they wish to emigrate (Zanfrini 2004). To conclude this account, we recall the concept of *anticipatory socialisation* (Merton and Kitt 1950; Alberoni and Baglioni 1965) referring to those mechanisms that influence potential migrants, introducing models of behaviour and consumer styles. This in fact represents one of the most important factors that attracts people to a better quality of life abroad. Both these perspectives explain why migration is easier for some individuals than for others, and why some individuals decide to stay or to migrate.

#### 3.3 Aspiration and ability to migrate

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> We refer to the *formal-relational* approach expressed by Siemmel (1908) who focused on migration as a social relationship, characterised by a belonging to the social group of origin and to the group of destination. In the *psycho-culturalist* approach, attention is paid to the immigrant as a free entrepreneur. Another micro approach is the *humanistic-situational* one, focused on the sphere of values, from a perspective of cultural adaptation or continuity with the past (Znaniecki 1958). The *ecological-social* approach focuses on the interaction of immigrants – and their original culture – with the host society (Park 1936).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> Applying network analysis to migration studies, we find the *migration chain* concept (Reyneri 1979). The migratory chain explains the way former relationships of migrants are a magnet for those who decide to migrate. The perspective of the migratory chain has been interpreted as a mechanism of attraction and this underlines the variety of relationships that connect social factors before migration and their mechanisms of change and transformation (relationships can be broken, transform, overlap, be substituted etc.). Network analysis reveals how networks change within the migration experience: first they are weak and related to psychological, cultural and material help, then they answer the needs of ethnic grouping, culturally mediating between the country of origin and destination country (Scidà 2002).

A recent study proposes an analysis of pre-migration determining factors and attitudes, starting from the consideration that not only do people wish to migrate, but also that they might be unable to do so. This approach is not suggesting a modelled theory, but it tries to empirically deal with different features of contemporary migration and non-migration that remain unexplained by traditional theory.

Carling (2002) introduces the concept of *involuntary immobility* as the tension between the aspirations to migrate and the (in)ability to do so<sup>19</sup>. The model he proposes aims to understand how individual characteristics and immigration polices affect personal aspirations and abilities to migrate<sup>20</sup>. In his view, the *aspiration* to migrate is affected, at a macro level, by the social construction of the meaning of e/migration (Rafael 1997; Rugkåsa 1997) and by the emigration environment, which consists of the historical, social, economic, cultural or political setting that encourages (or discourages) migration<sup>21</sup>. In this constructionist approach, the environment contains different projects, and emigration is one embedded with social and personal meanings and with stereotypical images and expectations. Varying commitments of people towards such projects create different outcomes of migration<sup>22</sup>.

At the micro level, *aspiration* is considered through the individual factors that influence people's desire to emigrate, such as gender, age, family migration history, social status, educational attainment, personality traits and social networks. The other dimension considered is *ability*, the realisation of the wish to emigrate: on a macro level it is most significantly affected by restrictive migration policies in destination countries and also by the existence, in countries of origin, of circumstances like diaspora or irregular migration networks. The ability to migrate is realised through different methods, each of which meets different *barriers* both at the micro level and at the macro level, associated with foreign migration regulations.

The model proposed by Carling represents an empirical tool for studying pre-migration, taking into account the conditions and determining factors that affect people's choices and opportunities to move.

#### 3.4 Psycho-social approaches

The perspective and study of potential migrants and migratory aspiration is a scarcely explored area in sociology (Faist 1997:247; Massey et al. 1998:12). Additional contributions come from other fields such as *clinical psychologists*, whose studies have generally been based on post migration narratives<sup>23</sup>. Such studies emphasised the psychosocial variables that define migratory

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> He especially explored the development of aspiration-into-ability to migrate among Cape Verdeans, in particular considering the influence of restrictive immigration polices.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> "The aspiration/ability model places the possibility of involuntary immobility at the centre of the migration process. This is important for two reasons. First, the massive extent of unfulfilled dreams about migration needs to be explained within a framework of migration theory: not only why these people wish to migrate, but also why they are unable to do so. Second, it is difficult to give adequate explanations of actual migration flows without relating to the widespread frustration over immobility. The migration flows that we observe are, in this sense, only the tip of the iceberg of wishes to migrate" (Carling 2001:1).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> "Potential destinations are an important part of the emigration environment, but they are present through the locally existing, discursively constructed ideas about these places. This is a characteristic of the migration decision-making process that has long been recognized, whether it is conceptualized in terms of imperfect information or discursive constructions" (Carling 2001: 26).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> "This is in fact a central theme in time-geography, how people initiate projects (i.e. emigration) with reference to ideal type versions that can be considered both as historical entities, rooted in the flow of life, and as ready-made blueprints, preserved in the store-house of culture" (Hägerstrand 1996: 653). "People's *wish* to migrate will often be based on ideas about a culturally defined blueprint 'emigration project', but if they do migrate, their own particular experience is likely to diverge from this ideal type version" (Carling 2001: 26-27)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> In particular we mention a study on migrant women conducted by Edelstein (2000 a) among 100 women, using narrative and discourse analyses. Edelstein finds that migrant women identify the responsibility of the migratory project in another person (the one determining it), they experience long farewell periods and they dream about the future

projects and possible traumatic distress<sup>24</sup>. Moreover, even if not directly applied to migration issues, the Maslow psychological theory studying the human needs hierarchy shall also provide useful insights<sup>25</sup>. While research in these fields is also not abundant<sup>26</sup> (Kran 1991; Espin 1999), what psychological approaches generally underline is the importance of examining the context of migrants and the necessity to know both sociological and socio-anthropological data about the process of contemporary migrations. Unlike the traditional emphasis on the economic factor of migrations, an integrated approach considering the complexity of its object is claimed including social, political and psychological variables and qualitative analyses (Tousignant 1991).

# 4. Fieldwork: strategies of firms, stories of workers

In this paper, we are providing some results of a more extensive study that analysed the *recruitment strategies* of foreign workforce among *IT firms* – to what extent companies' decision-making can influence international migration flows – and also how *foreign workers* shape their *aspirations* towards mobility. Our focus here is obviously just on the workers.

The entire research project was carried out between 2001-2004. While investigating the strategies that ICT firms in Italy adopt in order to recruit skilled foreign workers, a common trend of outsourcing and *delocalizing software development activities* noticeably emerged in *Romania*. The reason we specifically mention Romania is that it is the traditional location where many Italian firms (mostly based in the northeastern region) delocalise a portion of their activities (especially low-skilled ones from the fields of manufacture, garments, textile, but also highly-skilled ones from the technology and electronic sectors).

Moreover, Romania resembles important aspects of the global market economy: local firms working in international outsourcing for foreign subcontractors, growing foreign direct investments, a developing Information Technology industry, a highly skilled delocalisation process and a major national issue related to the brain drain migration of scientific and intellectual resources.

Therefore a *red line* had been followed, from the employers in Italy to the recruitment pool and delocalisation field in Romania. Tracking the edge in Romania, we examined the *subcontractor side* and investigated the *personal interests*, *aspirations* and *motivations* towards international mobility of IT workers employed there.

The fieldwork took place in 2003 in the City of Cluj Napoca. The city had been identified as a growing destination for the foreign software industry. Although Cluj is not a *technopole* like Silicon Valley or the Indian Bangalore, it nonetheless represents an important IT concentration of Technical

countries. The dimensions taken into consideration are very personal and intimate and there is little investigation of labour aspects.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup>Some researchers divided the psychological aspects of the migratory project in stages (Sluzki 1979; Sundquist 1994; Espin 1999) emphasising the prior phases to migrating – the difficulties, the personal living, the family - that create a correlation with the quality of their life beforehand and adaptation in the destination country (Portes e Rumbaut 1996). <sup>25</sup> Psychologist Abraham Maslow explained what directs and sustains human behaviour and human motivations (1943).

Maslow proposed the theory of hierarchy of human needs, saying that lower needs must be satisfied before moving to the next higher level (physiological and more basic needs; needs for safety and security; needs for love and belonging; needs for esteem and need of self actualization). When we consider the case of highly skilled workers and their motivations to leave, we could consider the relevance of fulfilling an esteem need (need for the respect of others, need for status, fame, glory, recognition, attention, reputation, appreciation, dignity), need for self-respect (including such feelings as confidence, competence, achievement, mastery, independence, and freedom) and self actualization need (characterising people who are problem-focused; incorporate an ongoing freshness of appreciation of life; have a concern about personal growth and an ability to have peak experiences).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> We mention the *ethno-psychiatrist* approach analysing the clinical aspects of nostalgia and memory; the *etzio-pathogenetic approach* indicated the pre-migrant personality as a cause of successive disorders (Bensmail 1990-1991); the *psycho-pathological* view of the alienated migrant drew on studies on positive selection or self-selection.

Universities and foreign firms and should be considered in a view of local/national economic development.

# 4.1 Methodology

From the outset, the qualitative method appeared to be the most appropriate and suitable option for testing our research purpose, due to its assumption and the scarcity of studies on this subject. Moreover, because we intended to study the migration projects of skilled workers, the nature of this information is itself qualitative and it is therefore complicated to analyse it differently.

We employed in-depth interviews of Romanian IT workers<sup>27</sup>, asking them to provide their personal stories and articulate their aspirations and experiences: their university education, their job career, work conditions and perspectives, their previous experiences abroad and their future aspirations and motivations to migrate (or not). Many sub-tales and arguments during interviews were encouraged with additional questions, following the natural storytelling course<sup>28</sup>.

Individual aspects related to the *self-aspiration* emerged in relation to the possibility, necessity or desire to migrate and in relation to larger projects of personal and professional fulfilment. As a result we can say that individuals provided accounts of their life projections and their desired living and working conditions. The fact that interviewees are *potential migrants* – they could eventually become or decide to become effective migrants – makes them explore ideas characterised by complexity or charged with emotion. Because narratives refer to the way people learn about, explain and organise experience (Bruner 1990; Cortazzi 1993), the stories told by our interviewees resulted in a method of (possible) self-representation and life/work evaluation, whereby people could attach meanings and understanding to their life and ideas.

Because the arguments discussed are related to a sphere which includes personal plans, wishes and aspirations, we are well aware that interviewees could be tempted to provide more positive or untruthful images of themselves. This *risk* has been avoided by testing the perspectives expressed with the feasibility and coherency of real facts and experiences.

Overall, we can differentiate two types of responses intended to explain the meaning of aspiration: one could be called the "arcadia response" ("if I could choose, I would definitely...") where people express an ideal future and possibility, being aware it would be the best possible option and that such a condition is not likely to eventuate. On the other hand, most people expressed a "pragmatica response" in which individuals realistically and consciously evaluate their desired and possible scenarios and make their consequent decisions while assessing their abilities and potential and combining these with personal/family/sentimental and professional needs, immigration schemes, local and global labour market conditions.

Interactive talks, ideas and meanings were therefore developed through reasoning out the possible, likely and desired types of migration.

# 5. Workers' aspirations and projects

The decision to emigrate requires personal attitudes, information and resources; overall it is affected by a mix of (social and economic) push and pull factors, unfulfilled *expectations*, a sense of deprivation of consumer goods or self professional actualization and accomplishment. We shall

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> We interviewed 29 Romanian IT workers living and working in Romania, in the city of Cluj Napoca and Bucharest. Interviews have been analysed with the Nudist software program for qualitative analysis.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup>Interviewees covered aspects related to their education and employment history. More wide-ranging aspects such as the perception of the local/national IT labour market, salary conditions and employment opportunities, and (mostly) aspects related to the presence of foreign firms were discussed in terms of career prospects, job conditions and working environments. Intervening questions refer to what Schütze calls *"Immanente Nachfragen"* (1977; 1983).

therefore say that the migratory project is not just the outcome of a simple rationale and economic calculation, but it also includes a wide range of motivations and perspectives.

In this section, we explain the mobility aspiration types that emerged in our study and the factors influencing them.

In our fieldwork, we learned about the experiences of IT Romanian workers who either spent a period abroad or conversely, never moved from their country. All interviewees agreed they had been considering migration, but not all of them expressed a particular desire to do so. We therefore made a distinction between different kinds of aspirations that we attributed to different mobility features:

- > *The committed migration plan*, a strong will and motivation to enter the international labour market and leave Romania.
- A desired aspiration to mobility as a potential experience abroad mostly a temporary circulation.
- ➤ A desired, but *impeded mobility* (or forced immobility) which implies the failure of the migration project due to obstacles and barriers mainly related to immigration legislation.
- Aspiration to a *content immobility*, an aspiration to stay in Romania and not to migrate, but to instead create a life and a career in their own country.

Below we begin by highlighting the *factors* affecting the decisions to migrate, then explain the *aspiration features* introduced above.

# 5.1 Framing migratory projects

Because projects and aspirations can switch easily from short to long term and *vice versa*, it is important to carefully consider the project length as less predictable and more variable over time. Besides all the elements influencing the conditions and decision to emigrate, a few aspects need to be mentioned as being critical to the motivation plans. *Age* affects the attitude towards an experience abroad: because young people are still into a growing phase of their career, they have a greater tendency to look for improvements and chances abroad, as they are also more adaptable to new conditions and environments.

But now I'm 36, I'm too old and less appealing to foreign firms. All the young people that are now finishing university know new things, they are well prepared and they can also accept cheaper salary offers from abroad than a person of my age and experience (RW\_08; RW=*Romanian Worker\_Interview n. 08*).

Another issue is to what extent migratory aspirations are the result of individual plans or are influenced by the social, personal and family environment (Stark 1991). The *local social environment* in Romania is actually a significant aspect. The close relationship with other IT students, workers and groups of peers, the exchange of ideas and information have an influence on providing examples, narratives as well as information. To a certain extent, IT students and workers are therefore socialized to the idea of migration by their peers and IT workers group.

At university we talked a lot of going abroad. You look forward, you think about the things you could do. At that time there were not many foreign firms. Many left. There was much talk and we heard lots of stories (RW\_01).

In this context, a *myth* of the *brain drain* emerged, explained by the *social pressure* on IT people to emigrate and by the *socially constructed image* of the *successful emigrant abroad*, who can enter into prestigious and rewarding occupations. The socially recognised meaning of highly skilled emigration could in fact provide a *status* not just to the migrant him/herself - thanks to a career and life improvement socially recognised by the community to which he or she now belongs - but also to the family left in Romania.

We previously explained how the decision to migrate is transferred from the single individual to the family as a risk sharing strategy, and how family and local community expectations could influence people towards migration plans (Stark and Bloom 1985; Stark 1991). Moreover, emigration usually provides the family left behind with a way to maintain economic stability through payments from the family member abroad (Reyneri 2000; Zanfrini 2004).

In our case, the IT *profession* itself generates the social expectation that the best IT workers are those who leave due to being recruited by the international market. Because working abroad means being a successful person (*emigration* means *high professional* achievement), IT workers are consequently influenced by social pressure that is put on the individual. Being an *IT brain* therefore implies being a potential migrant (*emigration* means being a *success* back in one's own country).

The social pressure and *mythisation* of IT mobility is also the result of the *media*'s portrayal of IT workers, public and political debates, University environments, exchanges of personal information, transnational relationships and online connections.

There was a period when there was lots of pressure. People, colleagues and friends were moving to Canada and the US. Those are thoughts that occur when many people are moving, many colleagues; you feel the pressure. The system was pressing us to leave and they were just fitting into this system (RW\_09)

There is a myth here that "if you go abroad, you're very good". But it's not like that. When I last went home to visit my family, I visited my teacher from high school, who asked me, "Why aren't you abroad? In MIT? In the States?". This is my home, and I don't care about their jobs (RW\_05).

Highly skilled migratory planning results from an *individual decision*, but personal and family relationships in one's homeland can actually curb plans, due to both the importance of affective roots and also because one's migratory plan might not match the partner's.

Migration could be an option. I thought of this, but for the time being, I have to stay here for my family and my private life for the next couple of years (RW\_09).

After college I was given an offer to go, but felt that I was not ready. Somehow, I now feel that I'm ready to go. I have the experience and the position. Now that I might want to go, I have to give my wife the chance to go to university and I'm not sure that this is the right time to go abroad (RW\_11).

Usually it's easier to migrate when it's just you, and not a couple. I would also say it's easier to migrate if you are a boy (RW\_12).

In terms of *implementing* the labour migration project - i.e. finding a job abroad, new accommodation, obtaining a work permit - the highly skilled do not appear to follow or rely on the support of *ethnic or family chains* and communities abroad - as flows are basically demand driven and affected by national immigration regulations.

We also have cousins abroad, but we are not necessarily going where they are. They said they can help us by letting us stay at their place, but it depends on where we get a job (...). We are applying for the US lottery visa. I would also apply to Canada because with our computer skills we have the chance to go and we both speak English (RW\_06).

We confirm what Meyer (2001) found, showing that engineers and information technologists tend to move through more *institutional migration channels*, such as direct recruitment or relocation agencies (Findlay 1990), and less through personal or ethnic networks or global professional organisations. As we interviewed IT workers who are still in Romania – who may or may not leave – we cannot say how effective their job search strategy through personal networks might subsequently be<sup>29</sup>. Nevertheless, we can confirm that IT workers in Romania and those abroad are definitely

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup>In some cases, it clearly emerged that international labour markets can become linked through specific networks of interpersonal and organisational ties (Poros 2001; and as examined in Mexico by Massey, Goldring and Durand 1994).

maintaining *networks* across time and space. From our fieldwork we cannot confirm that social ties in pre-migration networks are the primary cause and means affecting the decisions of who migrates, the destinations and the future prospects for physical and occupational mobility. However, we can confirm that *virtual transnationalism* of highly skilled IT workers exists and keeps migrants and non migrants connected throughout the world<sup>30</sup>.

## 5.2 Committed aspiration to mobility

The committed aspiration to mobility refers to a strong desire to emigrate and the passionate motivation to accomplish this plan. This aspiration is obviously affected by pull factors (the economic appeal of higher salaries abroad), but the *monetary reward* itself does not solely explain this committed personal objective, which is then shaped by more individual aspects as a need for self professional actualization (Maslow 1943) and a sort of master-plan of life improvement.

Considering firstly the *economic aspects* affecting the decision to move, we can confirm that the migratory aspiration among interviewees was influenced by the *attractive conditions* in the destination countries, especially in terms of *higher salaries* (pull factors).

To be frank, the programmers in Italy are no better than ours. I heard that they pay programmers a lot in Italy. You learn about the different society and culture, but you go there to get more money. This is from an IT worker's perspective, but it's the same for blue-collar or construction workers. And it's also better for the CV ( $RW_01$ ).

Overall, migrating is a tough experience and it is the outcome of a deep and intense assessment. The *economic advantage* and attractiveness of a job abroad are unquestionably important factors. Moreover, it is no longer the case that considerable *frustration* with the Romanian environment or even a strong dissatisfaction with one's current job (or the inability to find one) are leading to the idea to move abroad, as it used to be for many skilled Romanians who left in previous years (push factor). Indeed, today's IT workers in Romania can find *reasonable work* and economic fulfilment in their country, especially if employed in a foreign company. For this reason, migration of highly skilled workers is influenced by economic reasons, which alone do not explain individual movements.

Accordingly, we could highlight a distinction between *committed motivations* – which are voluntarily activated and relate to a short or long-term planned mobility - and more general *desired aspirations* (§ 5.4).

Among those expressing a commitment to migrate, we found that those expressing a *temporary* investment or *concrete and target-oriented* aspiration mostly aimed to maximise the economic salary differential.

My husband and I are discussing where we could go. What we are earning is almost acceptable and we have quite an easy life, but if we want to have children it's going to be more complicated. We thought about going abroad for 1-2 years to save money and maybe return and run our business in Romania (RW\_06).

Others expressed *long-term prospects*, such as a personal *life master plan* that goes beyond the short-term or target-oriented experience. The aspiration, in this case, turns into a committed and

On the other hand, a recent study on IT and highly skilled Romanians living and working in countries other than Romania confirms that social and ethnic networks were not employed as a job search recruitment strategy (Ferro 2004). <sup>30</sup> All interviewees reported on their many IT friends who left Romania, showing that the diaspora of brains basically followed the same routes and geographies. We actually find elements of *virtual-transnational* relationships between emigrants and their contacts in Romania (Ferro 2004) and traits of a *connectivist understanding* (Meyer 2001). New, cheap and more efficient communication methods allow migrants to maintain their home-based relationships and contacts transnationally (Vertovec 2002). New technologies are at the heart of today's transnational networks and they certainly reinforce pre-existing social patterns. We can therefore argue that the Internet and *electronic tools* can represent not just a means of communication *per se*, but are places and tools to enhance feelings of belonging, create international connectivity and maintain a vivid social and personal link to a place.

voluntary plan, involving professional and personal spheres and investing in more extensive changes for future life.

My plan is for my whole life. I want to become a wealthy person. Maybe one day I will return to Romania. I have a family, my wife and me. I'm doing my best so that my children will be Australian and have everything they could want. In Romania, you have to work a lot and fight a lot against corruption and bureaucracy, you have to argue with everyone, things depress you (RW\_07).

This committed plan requires individuals to successfully accomplish their aspiration through *steps* and committed *decisions*, such as learning a foreign language, gaining proper professional experience and surfing the market and immigration entry programs in order to find the most suitable destination.

I took a language text to go to Australia, and after that I can start the immigration papers. The assessment phase: I need to prove that I have the skills for a good job. For this reason it's good that I'm working for a Dutch firm here in Romania. In Australia they need programmers and they want to see that I am a programmer, so I'm sending my references and diploma. Then you get a certain mark, points for your experience in your domain and your age, so you can immigrate. I got high score because I'm young, very well educated and have experience in a field they need. A colleague of mine went to Australia. He stayed there for 2 years, he enjoyed it there and wanted to become a citizen and applied for it. If I succeed with my papers for Australia, I will sell my property here, the flat that I bought with the money I gained working in the Netherlands (RW\_07).

In this sense, the aspiration to migrate is accomplished through personal attitudes, professional abilities and constructive actions, which are shaped by a *desire* to be professionally and economically fulfilled and also by a *personal attitude* (a sort of "migrant personality").

You need to have the will and desire. I know good colleagues of mine, smarter than me, more skilled than me, but they are happy in Romania and do not want to go elsewhere even if it may be better. They are pleased with what they have here and don't want to go. You have to be smart and good and know how to move and you need to believe in this idea (RW 06).

If I wait, I will lose points. I'm young, I have a good CV now and have maximum points and I'm devoted to this dream that I always had (RW\_07).

Being employed by *foreign firms in Romania* could indeed represent a way to subsequently be prepared for international labour market competition (§ 5.6), to obtain training experience in working procedures and gain a pre-migratory socialisation for the western work environment and practices.

To start with, I'm trying to learn all I can about this domain and become an expert in a field. This is why I tried to get a job in a foreign firm in Cluj. The job is more interesting, you deal with programs that are used abroad, and you learn how to work the way they want (RW\_07).

For those committed to migration however, international outsourcing represents only one possible and remote chance to rely on. Those who really want to emigrate are those who *directly* seek a *job opportunity abroad* and do not wait for that opportunity to come knocking at their door (as for the desired aspiration, (see § 4.5).

Those who wanted to go are already abroad. They left by themselves (RW\_13).

If I want to go to Germany, I just go there (RW\_10).

#### 5.3 Disheartened aspiration and aborted mobility

On the other side of the coin, a personal regret about not being able to go abroad - or about having being forced to return to Romania – emerged from the fieldwork. The migration aspiration here concerns an ideal and ultimate state of migrant reality that is either improbable or rather impossible to accomplish, mostly because of the immigration barriers and negative market conditions that

impede it. In times of economic recession, in fact, *immigration regulations* could ultimately play a role in *the expulsion of the skilled foreign workforce (forced returnees)* that might otherwise compete with the locals<sup>31</sup>.

We called it a *disheartened aspiration*, because it usually terminated in an *aborted mobility*. It affects people who expressed a strong interest in moving or remaining abroad, but did not ultimately succeed in their aim. A sense of frustration therefore characterises their aspiration to attain the status of successful immigrant<sup>32</sup>.

Our findings indeed offer a parallel with Carling's study (2002) based on the Cape Verdians' aspiration to international mobility<sup>33</sup>. Recalling the *aspiration-ability model* towards migration, we can confirm the concept of *forced immobility* (a manifest aspiration to migrate and an inability or an impediment to accomplish it).

After two years, when the contract ended, it was not easy for me and my Romanian colleagues in the Netherlands. In the beginning, I was not sure, but after 6 months I thought "Yes, I will stay here and live here". (...) The company had financial problems so I got fired. I received some unemployment benefits and I tried my luck there, but as a foreigner, I needed a work permit and I also didn't speak the language well. So I stayed there and tried to find a job. I said, "Why go back to Romania?" and I had my wife with me for three months. (...) Finally I had to leave because I couldn't renew my permit. (...) And now, I'm back in Romania, and I'm nostalgic. I had to completely alter my lifestyle there, that's why it's probably hard for me to give up and let that memory go. I didn't have to worry that much about money there, well...there are things I could not afford, but I had less stress. But it was not good because we could not have a status, and we didn't know how long we could stay there. But at least it was better than here (RW\_11).

In 2000 everybody was going abroad. I also thought it was a good idea, I was in the mood for leaving and it was no use staying here without trying a life elsewhere. And I tried but something went wrong. I wished to stay abroad, but the problems were too big, some with legislation and some personal, and now I'm here. My future now is very uncertain. I wish to become a businessman or to find employment if I fail (RW\_10).

Foreign skilled workers abroad largely depend on external economic and legislative conditions as well as on companies' willingness to keep them or dispose of them abroad. Being a *non-EU* worker<sup>34</sup> in the European labour market - even if regular and highly skilled - could certainly imply a *weaker* and more *vulnerable* status, a reduced contract negotiating power and limited job search freedom. The aspiration to move therefore also depends on its actualization of the immigrant status and rights.

Getting citizenship means that you have all the rights, you're a Dutch citizen and you have a better life. You become subject to local laws, you have another way of living. If I am a Dutch citizen, I can travel to other countries, I can even work in other countries. I can do all that and nobody asks me anything. I can move freely in Europe and find the job that I like, in Germany, in the Netherlands or anywhere else. You get more opportunities and more chances and you don't depend on your company's permit to work (RW\_07).

#### 5.4 Unexpected and desired aspiration

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> It is in fact true that some countries (i.e. Canada, Australia and New Zealand) have admission programs for qualified workers, especially IT professionals due to labour shortages in this field. Nevertheless, in Europe and in the US at present, the procedures to obtain work permits are not that easy or quick even for highly skilled workers.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> Among those IT workers abroad who found themselves trapped in the economic downturn in 2001, quite a few lost their job. The main problem for them had been losing the work permit sponsorship that made them eligible to live and work abroad.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup> In that research, workers were mainly low skilled that could not find legal entries abroad in order to emigrate.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> The fieldwork took place before the EU expansion to the Eastern countries. Nevertheless, the EU integration process is not regarded by interviewees as providing effective free circulation and workers rights.

Most interviewees expressed their desired aspiration to international mobility as the wish for a short-term job and life experience abroad. While not based on personal committed and planned strategy, this aspiration is expressed as a *desire* for a *temporary move* and a permanent *return* to Romania. Being too dependent on external conditions however<sup>35</sup>, the fulfilment of this aspiration ends up being quite unexpected. In fact, in our fieldwork we met workers who had been temporarily transferred abroad, while none actually explicitly asked or looked for an opportunity that just happened – and we referred to it as an *unexpected and unplanned mobility*.

I didn't know what I was supposed to do in the Netherlands. They said I had to go there to get training. I had never thought of it before, but I also thought it was a good chance to see other places and get higher salaries. So it was a decision: "OK, let's go somewhere else and see" (RW\_04).

We went to Italy for the Euro conversion, because they needed more people working. I was there for the company requirements and the particular economic and market circumstances, namely the Euro change. I never planned it, it just happened (RW\_03).

Even if they didn't explicitly look for it, workers recognise that being involved in a *foreign company* can expose them to mobility opportunities and contacts abroad.

If you work here for a foreign company, even if it's not very famous, you can have opportunities to go abroad. Maybe some people moved this way, like my friend in Japan, but it's not really automatic. It's just whether they need you there, because you're important (RW\_12).

We work in different parts of the world, but basically most Romanians work in Romania, but two colleagues are in Kuwait, which is one of our clients. It's a temporary mobility in any part of the world. We do exchanges, some colleagues went to New York for a month and some others went to London. It's a good benefit. But the decision to go is not yours; it's made for you and you're just told about it (RW\_05).

Such desired aspirations of mobility include an *interest* to go abroad for the economic, cultural and professional experience, but also a resolute *perspective* to make it just temporary and not to last a lifetime. In this respect, we are addressing the possible conversion of aspirations into effective *migratory projects* with the *aim* to save money, help the family in Romania and then *return*.

I didn't expect to be in Italy for so long. The client there was happy and asked me to stay there longer. I also considered staying there, but I wanted to stay close to my friends, my family, my home. With my firm we had a consultancy contract with the client, and it was specified that they could not hire us. We were excluded from the contract. They didn't offer me this however, but I guess I would have said no anyway. There I was in a foreign environment, even if it was very nice and all the people were very kind to me. But when I had my blues...I felt integrated though. But I felt lonely. Even though I had some Romanian colleagues and friends there, it's not the same thing. I was missing Romania (RW\_14).

My migratory project is to have a certain time abroad, to have an experience, save some money and then come back to Romania. Your heart is always there and you can not live your experience abroad. I also thought of going to Germany. I considered going abroad for a couple of years to buy a house in Cluj, as renting or buying is becoming very expensive (RW\_02).

While many would actually oppose the view that "there is nothing so permanent as a temporary migrant", this better reflects post-war European immigration patterns, with foreign workers imported as temporary guest workers who then developed substantial permanent communities. We cannot resolve the question of whether temporary migration is a prelude to permanent settlement or not these days, but there is some evidence that this may be less the case than in the past. Factors affecting the migratory project and the duration of the experience abroad also include modern forms of transport and communication. It could be argued that temporary migrants are less likely to move

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>35</sup> We refer to the foreign company strategy affected by factors like skill shortages, cost of labour differentials, immigration regulations.

into destination countries with a long-term aim of settling in that country, which was previously the case. Moreover, high skilled migrants can especially benefit from the nature of IT jobs and of back and forth circulation.

## 5.5 Satisfied immobility

In our fieldwork, we were able to find examples of international mobility through outsourcing, matching the workers' *interest* to gain money and enrich personal and work expectations, with a clear and committed *intention* to return to Romania. We could likely find aspirations for short experiences abroad that hardly turn into a real intention to permanently emigrate. Unlike *brain drain*, this form of *mobility* creates a framework of temporary and limited international migration and generates a *brain circulation*. Outsourcing can obviously encourage workers in Romania to seriously consider working abroad – because it exposes them to *foreign environments* in direct and indirect ways. Nevertheless, it also stimulates workers to *evaluate* the *chance* to go abroad as opposed to the *chance* to get a reasonably good job in their own country. For this reason, we could say that, along with or against the *desired temporary mobility*, workers expressed a *content* and *satisfied immobility* in Romania.

I sometimes considered spending time abroad, but I started here in Romania, with this firm, at this level and with these responsibilities. Then I saw that the employer trusted me and I also wanted to give them trust. I also received offers to go to Italy and the UK. But I said "why? For double the salary? To live far from my wife and family?". If I were unlucky here and had not been able to find this job, I may have gone. But I didn't want to. I was asked by others, I got offers from a University professor. I also received some offers by people we worked for, our clients. And some guys who worked here and then went abroad also asked me to go with them. But I always refused. I don't regret it, I'm happy with what I did (RW\_09).

It's like asking the bear if he wants some honey...everyone wants to live better. It's not just a question of salaries. It's not that I didn't want to stay abroad, but it's a balance that you need to keep and not break. I like Italy and I have friends there. I had a good time there, but I am Romanian. I'd also like to get more money, but sooner or later you have to go further and none of us who went there actually thought of staying there and I chose to stay here (RW 14).

The aspiration to go abroad is certainly balanced by the evaluation of what the *international market* can effectively offer. In fact, employment abroad does not necessarily mean having a better working situation than being employed in Romania. The aspiration is therefore mediated by a personal and professional *evaluation* that the most rewarding thing is not to migrate, but to remain.

I got an employment opportunity to work for Microsoft. It was a kind of recruiting test on the Web. I got a really high score and Microsoft contacted me, via mail. Then we talked for an hour, but nothing came of it because I still had to finish University. But I didn't consider going there previously, because all my friends are here and the only reason I could go there is for the money, but I already have that here. Redmond is the Microsoft Silicon Valley, about 50,000 employers. I didn't want to go there to work on testing tasks, and not as a developer. They were not looking for developers, but I don't like testing. I like to create software and I can do it here (RW\_05).

It's a balance that you need to keep and not break. I'd also like to get more money, but sooner or later you have to go further and none of us who went there actually thought of staying there and I chose to stay here (RW\_19).

Working for a foreign company in Romania offers professional expertise and personal and economic *fulfilment* that can compensate for the appeal of a job abroad. What explains how aspirations become (or do not become) real migratory projects is the distinction between those *highly skilled with committed aspirations,* who would migrate autonomously in any case, and those who might find themselves facing conditions to *migrate,* and decide not to leave their country.

I never thought of looking for a job in Italy. You can consider it if you have the chance and the opportunity that comes to you. But I was not looking for it. There is the aspiration to do for ourselves,

to do your best and to have a challenge. This is why I came to this firm here in Cluj, which was following the challenges of the market more. I know that in Romania I could not live as if I were in Italy, but this is also a challenge. I could do it if I really wanted to. But there was also the opportunity to work well in Romania. I feel happy here and I was also very happy in Italy, but just for the time that I spent there. I didn't want to live there (RW\_14).

You always think that there is something better than what you are doing, and you also look at other countries. But you can not live like that, always surfing for the best. For me it has been good to have a better chance here in Romania, by our standard. I know I could have had more abroad, but I don't need it. I can have my career here in Romania. When there is no job and no chance here, I would look abroad. As long as I have the chance to live well here, I wish to stay here (RW 01).

There is more than one who is not interested in going to Italy. The IT Romanians who go abroad do it for money. Those who stay, they need to find reasons to stay, so we try to negotiate salaries and a logic of professional growth (RW\_IF\_07).

Being employed in outsourcing for foreign companies is specifically and uniquely related to the tools of *Information Technologies*: e-mails, video conferences, messengers, remote controls, Internet labour flows. Online *virtual labour* shows how skilled work could be performed from a distance, providing technical knowledge through the specific features of the Internet. It also shows how complex and diverse the interconnections of IT practices with labour migration are, as we address particular forms of brain mobility that come under the definition of *brains without bodies*: work is mobile while workers are immobile - this is in fact what we have called *virtual mobility*.

They send us a request. There are ten people here and ten in the US and each one has a pair correspondent. I have to do the same work of an American guy; I'm working with him. We cover 12 hours and they cover another 12 hours. And every two weekends I have to work and stay on call. If they have problems, I help out. We work with e-mails, we make calls, we talk and collaborate. When they have something to develop they send the request and we do it. It's assistance, and providing services and development when they need it (RW 06).

#### 5.6 Outsourcing: a migratory launching pad or a Net-bourgeoisie incubator

Evaluating our fieldwork within larger assumptions of the IT outsourcing process and the brain drain problem, we could make an argument for the potential growth and role of a sort of *Net bourgeoisie*, which refers to that segment of skilled IT workers employed by foreign firms in Romania. Economically quite well-off and well-educated, this group of Romanians is in fact interchanged and linked with western social, cultural and economic environments. Without ascribing any potential role, we simply foresee that they could be a leading sector in the direction of a more structured and globalised economic recovery. It is not true that the explicit aspiration of these IT workers has been identified in their commitment (or explicit aspiration) to develop the national Romanian and local economy. Nevertheless, we were able to discover how the aspiration to self-actualization merges professional and personal aspects of having an IT job, remaining in Romania and participating in the economic recovery and emancipation of the national industry.

In Romania it is much more chaotic, but I think that somebody can make a bigger difference here than in the west. I mean, we can. In Romania everything is unfinished, there's so much to be done (RW\_09).

In a private company in Romania, there might be better chances for you to be valued than in a state company. In some cases you could find better options to stay than go abroad. The more foreign firms there are here, the more employment opportunities and salaries grow. There is more money coming into Romania and all the money coming into types of salaries goes back into the economy; it creates an effect. And IT people can attract lots of money here (RW\_06).

Everyone wants to live better. It's not a question of salaries. It's not that I didn't want to go abroad, but it's a balance that you need to keep and not to break. I like Italy (...) but I am Romanian. (...) There is the aspiration to do things for ourselves, to do your best and have a challenge. This is why I

came to this firm. (...) I know in Romania I could not live as if I were in Italy, but this is also a challenge. I could do it if I really wanted to. But there was also the opportunity to work well in Romania. (...) I know many good ones who have left, but there are also those who stayed and they can take up the challenge here also (RW\_19).

I know many have left and are abroad, but we are here and sometimes I think it's harder to stay instead of leaving, but if we also decide to leave, who is left then? (RW\_10).

From this perspective, the economic and social changes that are slowly taking place in Romania give people a chance to finally obtain *motivating IT jobs* and get reasonably good salaries through foreign firms. Outsourcing is therefore recognised as the instrument that can provide *IT brains* with a motivation to stay in Romania and provide that country a chance to economically develop by building up international business relationships.

The situation is getting better now and outsourcing is the solution. Romania is the *new Eldorado* for soft development for the expansion (RW\_16).

If people have a decent salary here and start getting good jobs here they would not emigrate  $(RW_05)$ .

With outsourcing, Romanians can learn entrepreneurial culture that is different from the local one. Otherwise they are too isolated from the development of skills (RW\_19).

I like foreign companies because they have good management, are more efficient and serious, and you learn how to work. Romanian companies are not very well organised; you try to make your way to life. In this foreign firm, I can learn the same things I would learn abroad (RW\_12).

In some cases, being employed in a foreign firm was truly a *launching pad* for an international move abroad. From our fieldwork however, we could find few examples revealing that this type of employment ultimately creates *brain drain* effects, with *temporary brain circulation* being more likely. Labour mobility resulting from outsourcing can occur when there is a matching of *external conditions*, such as economic growth and skill requirements, strategically integrated *company relationships* between subcontractor and contractor, a *work environment* open to the employment of foreign resources and an individual drive to gain work experiences abroad. In this way chances to leave can materialise, but this can hardly be considered an explicit expression of permanent migrations of highly skilled IT workers.

#### 6. Conclusions

This paper investigated a specific area of migration inspired by *skilled workforce mobility* and *firms strategies*. Little research could be found exploring this relationship, which ultimately implies a reassessment of perspectives on migration, and exploring the viewpoint of potential migrants, their desires and motivations. In conclusion, recalling our initial *paradox*, we cannot confirm that flows of capital activate flows of workers, but we cannot even say that IT relocation keeps workers completely immobile. The discourse should instead introduce a *rethinking* of physical migration, instead considering virtual mobility and brain circulation (Aneesh 2000).

With this research, we therefore make a contribution by further investigating the ways and consequences of contemporary highly skilled migration from an innovative perspective. We aimed to study how the international labour mobility of knowledge workers could take place and to what extent it is influenced by conditions and elements of economic modernisation and globalisation. In doing this, we need to strengthen our framework based on the economic restructuring of globalised markets and *information technologies*, a global sector in which companies freely move capital, resources and labour and which shows how *knowledge workers* have become *crucial* today. We wished to analyse two aspects in particular:

# (§) What drives and shapes *the aspiration* - or, alternatively, the non-aspiration - *to internationally migrate among knowledge workers? What personal and external factors influence the desire and decision to migrate?*

The migratory projects and attitudes towards migration can be activated and influenced by a *pre-migratory socialization* caused by media and information, university environments, students and peer workers' experiences and connections. In addition, a role is played by the *IT myth* of successful migration as a pushing individual/family/community factor affecting moving prospects. *Immigration polices* can represent a pull factor (the IT selective programs for long-term IT specialists, especially for overseas destinations), but they also create barriers for workers and firms. *Outsourcing* does not widely influence aspirations to migrate, but it certainly affects knowledge of migration and primarily the cultural, economic, business familiarity with western environments. In this way, it promotes circulation of information, knowledge and relationships. We could say that working in outsourcing may be an incubator for an experience abroad that could turn into a real opportunity, depending on personal attitudes and external conditions (such as skill shortages, market trends, and demand-driven aspects like companies' strategies to recruit and employ foreign workers).

# (§) What patterns of mobility aspiration can we identify among knowledge workers? What traits and features emerge? What implications can we infer?

In analysing the migratory projects of IT workers in Romania, we could form a typology of plans according to personal interests and investment and external constraints or opportunities. Plans of *desired mobility* expressed by workers consider temporary mobility a positive aspect of working in outsourcing and an ultimate desire to gain experience abroad. In this case, the aspiration to migrate is low and the ability and willingness to move are not leading to any explicit migrant behaviour. *Satisfied* immobility pertains to those individuals who are content with the opportunities and conditions of employment in a foreign firm in Romania (introducing the concept of *virtual mobility*), and who express a positive interest in making their life there. *Committed* plans refer to those unwilling to emigrate, independently by working in outsourcing for foreign firms. Finally, *impeded* mobility – or forced immobility – involves those who had previous plans for international migration, but failed in their projects because of negative market trends or restrictive immigration polices.

Despite the models highlighted above, it is clear that when studying *aspirations*, we deal with personal, family, social, cultural and market dimensions at the same time. We could rephrase our discourse by saying that, by contrast with the influence of *external conditions* (immigration regulations, market conditions, labour shortages, firms strategies), individual aspirations can tend towards "*change/mobility*" or "*status quo/immobility*" as a mixed result of social pressure towards migration and a migrant personality.

On the whole, what we found to be significant is that *outsourcing* can truly affect highly skilled mobility by lessening *pressure* towards emigration and making occasional forms of temporary and short term mobility available, so that workers can accomplish some of their *professional* and *personal aspirations* and still maintain a stable presence in Romania. From this perspective, outsourcing can mainly create places of business, cultural and social exchange with western environments and improve workers' skills, knowledge and information. For this reason, we mentioned the emergence of a *Net bourgeoisie* as a group of Romanian professionals involved in

the IT sector and western economy that could become a possible leading sector for a structured and internationally based recovery of the country.

To conclude, we finally highlight the importance of the qualitative research tool that allowed us to investigate such features with deep insight, significant findings and a wealth of information. Given the limited validity of our results, based on a short number of personal cases in a certain Romanian city, we could indeed argue that some aspects have a wider implication. This gives credit to the fact that narratives of personal and professional aspirations (of mobility) should receive larger attention among migration studies.

#### BIBLIOGRAPHY

Alberoni F., Baglioni G. (1965), L'integrazione dell'immigrato nella società industriale, Il Mulino, Bologna.

- Aneesh A. (2000), *Rethinking Migration: High-Skilled Labor Flows from India to the United States*, University of California-San Diego, The center for Comparative immigration studies, Working Paper n. 18, August
- Beine M., Docquier F., Rapoport H. (2001), "Brain drain and economic growth: theory and evidence", in *Journal of development economics*, February 2001, 64, No. 1, 275-289
- Beine M., Docquier F., Rapoport H. (2002), Brain drain and LDCs' growth: winners and losers, Working Paper n. 129, Center for Research on Economic Development and Policy Reform, Stanford University, Stanford. Also available on line as Discussion Paper Series, IZA DP n. 819, Forschungsinstitut zur Zukunft der Arbeit Institute for the Study of Labor, July 2003.
- Bensmail B. (1990-1991), "Notes sur les aspects transculturels et psychopathologiques de la migration maghrébine en France", in *Psychopathologie Africanine*, XXIII, No. 3, 305-328.
- Bhagwati J. (1976), *The Brain Drain and Taxation Theory and Empirical Analysis*, Amsterdam, Ed. North-Holland Publishing Company.
- Böcker, A. (1995) Migration networks: Turkish migration to Western Europe. Causes of international migration, Eurostat, Luxembourg.
- Boyd, M. (1989), "Family and personal networks in international migration: Recent developments and new agendas", in *International Migration Review*, Vol. 23, No. 3, 638-670
- Bruner J. (1990), Acts of meaning, Harvard University Press, Cambridge, MA
- Bruni, M. and Venturini, A. (1995), "Pressure to migrate and propensity to emigrate: The case of the Mediterranean Basin", in *International Labour Review*, Vol. 134, No. 3, 377-400.
- Carling J., (2001), Aspiration and ability in international migration Cape Verdean experiences of mobility and Immobility, Department of Sociology and Human Geography, University of Oslo, September, Dissertations Theses.
- Carling J. (2002), "Migration in the age of involuntary immobility: theoretical reflections and Cape Verdean experiences", in *Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies*, Vol. 28, No. 1, 5-42 January.
- Castells M. (1996), The Rise of the network Society, Oxford, Blackwell.
- Clott Christopher (2004), "Perspectives on Global Outsourcing and the Changing Nature of Work" in *Business and* Society Review, 109:2, Blackwell Publishing Ltd Oxford, 153–170
- Cortazzi M. (1993), Narrative analysis, The Falmer Press, London.
- Domingues Dos Santos, M. and F. Postel-Vinay (2003), "Migration as a source of growth: the perspective of a developing country", in *Journal of Population Economics*, Vol. 16, No. 1, 161-75.
- Edelstein, C. (2000a), Di Isabel e altri demoni, Vite Altrove. Migrazione e disagio psichico, Feltrinelli, Milano.
- Edelstein, C. (2000b), Il pozzo: uno spazio di incontri, Connessioni, 6.
- Espin O. (1999), Woman crossing boundaries: a psychology of immigration and transformations of sexuality, New York, Routledge.
- Fernandes R. J., Ararora A. and Asundi J.M. (2000), *Supply and demand for software developers in India*, Working paper, Software Industry Center, Heinz School Engeneering and Public Policy, Carnegie Mellon University, September.
- Ferro A. (2004), 2004. "*A picture of Romanian's high skilled emigration*", UNESCO-CEPES Quarterly, HEE vol. 23, 3, 2004, CARFAX, Routledge Publications.
- Ferro, Fellini and Fullin, "Subcontracting strategies and workers' international mobility", work in progress paper 2005.
- Gaillard, J. and A.M. Gaillard (1997), "The international migration of brains: exodus or circulation?", in *Technology and Society*, vol. 2, No. 2.
- Gould D.M. (1994), "Immigrant links to the home country: empirical implications for U.S. bilateral trade flows", in *The Review of Economics and Statistics*, Vol.76, No. 2, 302-16.
- Guarnizo L. E. (2001), On the Political Participation of Transnational Migrants. Old practices and new trends, ed. by G.
- Hicks D. M., Isard P.A. and Martin B.R. (1996), "A morphology of Japanese and European Corporate research networks", in *Research Policy*, No. 25, 359-378.
- Kattuman P. and Iyer K., (2002), "Human Capital in the move up the value chain: the case of software and services industry", in Kagami M. and Tsuji M. (eds.), *The IT revolution and developing countries: late-comer advantage?*, Institute of developing Economics (Jetro), 208-227.
- Kran, E. (1991), The contradictory immigrant problem: A sociopsychological analysis, New York, Peter Lang Publishing.
- Lowell B. L. and Findlay A. (2001), Migration of highly skilled persons from developing countries: Impact and policy responses. International Migration Papers 44. Geneva: International Labour Office, International Migration Branch. Retrieved December 8, 2002.
- Martin P. and Straubhaar T. (2002), "Best Practice Options: Romania", in *International Migration*, 40, 3 SI 1/2002, IOM, Blackwell Publishers Ltd.
- Maslow A. (1943), "A Theory of Human Motivation", Psychological Review, September.
- Massey D., Arango, J., Hugo, G., Kouaouci, A., Pellegrino, A. & Taylor, J.E. (1998), Worlds in Motion: Understanding International Migration at the End of the Millennium, Oxford, Oxford University Press.

- Massey, D.S., Goldring, L. and J. Durand. (1994) "Continuities in Transnational Migration: An Analysis of Nineteen Mexican Communities," <u>American Journal of Sociology</u>, 99(6): 1492-1533. Merton, R. K. and Alice Kitt (1950), "Contributions to the theory of reference group behavior." Glencoe, Illinois: Free Press. (Reprinted in part from *Studies in the scope and method of "The American soldier."* Edited by R.K. Merton & Paul Lazarfeld. Glencoe, IL: Free Press.
- Meyer, J.-B. (2001), Dossier: The 'brain drain': new aspects of the South/North exodus, The Courier ACP-EU(July-August 2001).
- Mountford A. (1997), "Can a Brain Drain Be Good for Growth in the Source Economy?", in *Journal of Development Economics*, Vol. 53, No. 2, 287-303.
- Nicholson B. (2001), *Global software outsourcing: The solution to the IT skills gap, School of Accounting and Finance,* Workshop Report Held at Wissenschaftszentrum Berlin 30–31 March, Anglo-German Foundation for the Study of Industrial Society/
- OECD (2001): SOPEMI, Trends in International Migration, Continuous Reporting System, (Annual Reports), Paris.
- OECD (2002a), *Student mobility between and towards OECD countries: a comparative analysis*, Trends in International Migration: SOPEMI. Paris, OECD, 93:117.
- OECD (2002 b), *International Mobility of the Highly skilled*, [Key findings from the OECD seminar on "International Mobility of Highly Skilled Workers: From Statistical Analysis to Policy Formulation", Paris, 11-12 June 2001].

CCE DG Research, Eurostat, Third European Report on ST Indicators, Brussels, 2003.

- Park R. (1936), "Human Ecology", in American Journal of Sociology, Vol. 17, No. 1, 1-15.
- Poros, M. (2001) 'The role of migrant networks in linking local labor markets: The case of Asian Indian migration to New York and London,' Global Networks 1(3): 243-59
- Portes A. (1998), *Globalisation from below: the rise of transnational communities*, Transnational Community Programme, Working Paper WPTC-98-01
- Portes A. and Rumbaut R. G. (1996), *Immigrant America: A portrait* (2nd ed.), Berkeley, CA, University of California Press.
- Rack P.H., (1988), "Different kinds of migrants have different problems: a British perspective", in *Antropologia Medica*, No. 4, 11-16.
- Rafael, V.L. (1997), "Your grief is our gossip: Overseas Filipinos and other spectral presences", in *Public Culture*, No. 9, 267-291.
- Rapoport, H. and F. Docquier (2003), "The economics of migrants' remittances", in *L.-A*, in Gerard-Varet, S.C. Kolm and J. Mercier-Ythier, eds.: *Handbook of the economics of giving, reciprocity and altruism*, Amsterdam: North-Holland, forthcoming.
- Rauch, J.E. and V. Trindade (2002), "Ethnic Chinese networks in international trade", in *Review of Economics and Statistics*, No. 84, 1-116-30.
- Reyneri E. (1979), La catena migratoria. Il ruolo dell'emigrazione nel mercato del lavoro di arrivo e di esodo, Bologna: Il Mulino.
- Reyneri E. (2000), *L'immigrato come Homo sociologicus*, in AA.VV. 30° dell'Istituzione della Facoltà di Scienze Politiche dell'Università di Catania, Milano, Ed. Giuffrè.
- Reyneri E. (2001), Migrants in Irregular Employment in the Mediterranean Countries of the European Union, ILO Working Papers, Ginevra.
- Rugkåsa, J. (1997), Sacrifice and success: The meaning of migration in a Filipino local setting. Thesis submitted in partial fulfilment of the Cand. Polit. degree, Department and Museum of Anthropology, University of Oslo.
- Sassen S. (1988), The mobility of labor and capital. A study in international investment and labor flow, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge
- Sassen S. (1991), The global city: New York, London, Tokio, Princeton University Press, Princeton
- Sassen S. (1994), Cities in a World Economy, Pine Forge Press, London
- Schaeffer, P.V. (1993), "A definition of migration pressure based on demand theory", in *International Migration*, Vol. 31, No. 1, 43-72.
- Schütze, F. (1977). Die Technik des narrativen Interviews in Interaktionsfeldstudien dargestellt am einem Projekt zur Erforschung von kommunalen Machtstrukturen. Unveröffentlichtes Manuskript
- Schütze, F. (1983). Biographieforschung und narratives Interview. Neue Praxis, 3, 283-293
- Scidà G. (2002), "L'Italia e la sociologia delle migrazioni", in Pollini G., Scidà G. (2002), Sociologia delle migrazioni e della società multietnica, Franco Angeli, Milano.
- Siemmel G. (1908), "Exkurs über den Fremden." Pp. 509-512 in Soziologie, Untersuchungen über die Formen der Vergesellschaftung, edited by G. Simmel. Leipzig: Verlag von Duncker & Humblot, translated in (1999), "Excursus sur l'étranger", in Sociologie. Études sur les formes de socialisation, de George Simmel. Paris: Presses Universitaires de France, 663-668,
- Sluzki, C. (1979), "Migration and family conflict", in Family Process, Vol. 18, No. 4, 379-390.

Sparrow E. (2003), Successful IT outsourcing : from choosing a provider to managing the project, London: Springer.

- Stark, O. (1995), "The sharing and distribution of the returns to migration in developing countries", in Ong, J.H., Chan,
  - K.B. and Chew, S.B. (eds.) Crossing Borders. Transmigration in Asia Pacific. Singapore: Prentice Hall, 101-106.

Stark O., Bloom D.E. (1985), "The new economics of labour migration", in American Economic Review, Vol. 75, No. 2.

- Stark, O. and Taylor, J.E. (1991), "Migration incentives, migration types: The role of relative deprivation", in *The Economic Journal*, No. 101, 1163-1178.
- Stark, O., C. Helmenstein. and A. Prskawetz (1998), "Human capital depletion, human capital formation, and migration: a blessing or a 'curse'?", in *Economics Letters*, Vol. 60, No. 3, 363-7.
- Sundquist J. (1994), Migration and health, Lund, Lund University Press.
- Taylor, J.E. (1999), "The new economics of labour migration and the role of remittances in the migration process", in *International Migration*, Vol. 37, No. 1, 63-86.

Tousignant M. (1991), "Espanto: A Dialogue with the Gods", Clut. Med. & Psychiatry, No. 3, 347-361.

- UNESCO-CEPES (2004), *Brain Drain in the Context of the Intellectual Labour Market and Human Capital*, International Roundtable on Brain Drain and the Academic and Intellectual Labour Market in South East Europe, Bucharest, 18-19 June.
- Vertovec S. (2002), Transnational Networks and Skilled Labour Migration, WPTC-02-02, paper given at the conference: Ladenburger Diskurs "Migration" Gottlieb Daimler- und Karl Benz-Stiftung, Ladenburg, 14-15 February 2002
- Wickramasekara P. (2002), Perspectives on Labour Migration, Policy responses to skilled migration : Retention, return and circulation, 5 E, Social protection sector, International migration programme, International Labour Office Geneva, 1 Presentation to the Meeting on skilled migrations organised by the Institut de Sociologie de l'Université de Neuchâtel and the Forum suisse pour l'étude des migrations et de la population, Neuchatel, Switzerland, 7-8 November 2002. www.ilo.org/public/english/protection/migrant/download/pom/pom5e.pdf
- Williamson O. (1981), "The Economics of Organization: the Transaction Cost Approach", in American Journal of Sociology, No. 3, 548-577.

Zanfrini L. (2004), Sociologia delle migrazioni, La Terza, Roma.

Znaniecki F., Thomas W. J. (1958), The Polish Peasant in Europe and America, II, New York: Dover Publications Inc.